

FY2012 Budget Highlights for the Human Resources "Superfunction": Education, Training, Social Services, Health, Income Security, and Veterans

(name redacted) Specialist in Domestic Social Policy and Division Research Coordinator

(name redacted) Specialist in Social Policy

May 17, 2011

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R41827

Summary

The 112th Congress is focusing attention on short- and long-term efforts to reduce the federal deficit and stabilize the national debt, including proposals to alter the overall size and composition of total federal spending. Components of the federal budget categorized as "human resources" account for the majority of federal outlays (70% in FY2010) and would be affected by these proposals. Six functional categories comprise the human resources "superfunction": education, training, employment, and social services; health (primarily Medicaid); Medicare; income security; Social Security; and veterans benefits and services.

President Obama submitted a detailed FY2012 budget request to Congress on February 14, and in April, he released a set of deficit reduction policies intended to build on the February proposal called the *President's Framework for Shared Prosperity and Shared Fiscal Responsibility*. On April 15, the House passed a concurrent resolution on the FY2012 budget (H.Con.Res. 34) that was based on a document called *Path to Prosperity*, released by Budget Committee Chairman Paul Ryan on April 5. The Senate has not yet acted on a budget resolution for FY2012.

As a share of the national economy, spending for human resources is expected to have peaked at 16.4% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in FY2010 and, according to the Congressional Budget Office (CBO), will fall to 14.8% in FY2014. This decline reflects the assumed economic recovery, lower spending for programs that respond automatically to economic conditions (e.g., Unemployment Insurance, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program), and expiration of stimulus funding under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5). However, CBO estimates that, with no changes in current law, human resources spending will rise again as a share of GDP and reach 15.7% by FY2021 due to the continuing effects of the baby boom generation's retirement and increased enrollment in Medicare and Social Security, real growth in initial Social Security benefits, medical cost inflation in excess of general inflation, and new spending related to the health care reform law of 2010.

Reflecting these trends, all projected growth in the human resources budget will occur in three functional categories: health (primarily Medicaid), Medicare, and Social Security. CBO estimates that spending for income security will contract as a share of GDP over the next decade, as will spending for the two smallest human resources categories (i.e., education, training, employment, and social services; and veterans benefits and services).

Both the President's budget and H.Con.Res. 34 include provisions intended to reduce spending overall. However, the President's February proposals would result in spending for human resources that would closely follow, and slightly exceed, the CBO current law baseline, while the House resolution sets spending targets that are significantly lower. Specifically, human resources spending would equal 15.9% of GDP in FY2021 under the Administration's February budget and 13.5% under the House resolution, compared to CBO's baseline estimate of 15.7%. The most significant reductions from the CBO baseline, if all provisions assumed in the House resolution were enacted, would occur in three categories: education, training, employment, and social services (the smallest human resources category); Medicaid; and income security. As widely reported, the House resolution assumes enactment of legislation to convert Medicare into a "premium subsidy" program; however, this change would not occur until FY2022, which is after the resolution's 10-year budget window. Thus, the House resolution sets spending targets for the next 10 years that are relatively close to CBO's baseline projections for Medicare, Social Security, and veterans benefits and services.

Contents

| Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| What are Budget Functions and Superfunctions? | 3 |
| Organization of This Report | |
| The Human Resources Superfunction | 4 |
| Current Law | 4 |
| Pending Proposals | 7 |
| Overarching Policy Proposals | 8 |
| Administration Budget | 9 |
| House Budget Resolution | |
| Function 500: Education, Training, Employment, and Social Services (ETESS)1 | 0 |
| Function 550: Health1 | 2 |
| Function 570: Medicare1 | 4 |
| Function 600: Income Security1 | 6 |
| Function 650: Social Security1 | 8 |
| Function 700: Veterans Benefits and Services2 | 20 |
| Conclusion2 | 21 |

Figures

| Figure 2. Federal Outlays by Major Budget Category as Percent of GDP: 5 FY1962-FY2021 5 Figure 3. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as Percent of GDP: 7 Fy1962 through FY2021 7 Figure 4. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as Percent of GDP: 7 Fy2011 through FY2021 8 Figure 5. Federal Outlays for the ETESS Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: 11 Fy2011 through FY2021 11 Figure 6. Federal Outlays for the Health Budget Function, in Constant 2011 Dollars: 13 Fy2011 through FY2021 13 Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 15 Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 10 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 19 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in Constant 2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 21 | Figure 1. Federal Outlays by Major Budget Category: FY2010 | 2 |
|---|---|----|
| FY1962 through FY2021 .7 Figure 4. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as Percent of GDP: .7 FY2011 through FY2021 .8 Figure 5. Federal Outlays for the ETESS Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: .7 FY2011 through FY2021 .11 Figure 6. Federal Outlays for the Health Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: .11 Fy2011 through FY2021 .13 Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .13 Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .15 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .19 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in .19 | | 5 |
| FY2011 through FY2021 .8 Figure 5. Federal Outlays for the ETESS Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: .11 Figure 6. Federal Outlays for the Health Budget Function, in Constant 2011 Dollars: .11 Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .13 Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .13 Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .15 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 .17 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in .19 | | 7 |
| FY2011 through FY2021 11 Figure 6. Federal Outlays for the Health Budget Function, in Constant 2011 Dollars: 13 Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 13 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 15 Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 15 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in 19 | | 8 |
| FY2011 through FY2021 13 Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 15 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 15 Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 19 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in 19 | | 11 |
| Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 15 Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 19 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in 19 | | 13 |
| Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 17 Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 17 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 19 Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in | | 15 |
| Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021 | | 17 |
| Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in | Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 | |
| | Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in | |

Tables

| Table A-1. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as a Percent of GDP: FY2012-FY2021 | 23 |
|--|----|
| Table A-2. Federal Budget Authority for Human Resources Budget Functions: FY2012- FY2021 | |
| Table A-3. Federal Outlays for Human Resource Budget Functions: FY2012-FY2021 | |

Appendixes

Contacts

| Author Contact Information |
|----------------------------|
|----------------------------|

Introduction

Members of Congress and the Obama Administration are engaged in debate over short- and longterm efforts to reduce the federal deficit and stabilize the national debt. Within that debate, attention has focused on proposals to alter the overall size and composition of total federal spending. The bipartisan National Commission on Fiscal Responsibility and Reform issued recommendations for both spending reductions and revenue increases on December 1, 2010.¹ On February 14, 2011, President Obama submitted his detailed FY2012 budget request to Congress, and two months later he released a set of deficit reduction policies intended to build on his February proposal. Unlike the February budget submission, the President's April *Framework for Shared Prosperity and Shared Fiscal Responsibility* does not include detailed proposals and has not been scored by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO).

The House Budget Committee reported a concurrent resolution on the FY2012 budget (H.Con.Res. 34) that was based on a document titled *Path to Prosperity*, released by Budget Committee Chairman Paul Ryan on April 5. The full House passed H.Con.Res. 34 on April 15 after defeating substitute versions offered by the Congressional Black Caucus (H.Amdt. 256), the Congressional Progressive Caucus (H.Amdt. 257), the Republican Study Committee (H.Amdt. 258), and the Democratic Caucus (H.Amdt. 259).² The Senate has not yet acted on a budget resolution for FY2012.

This CRS report highlights spending trends and key policy initiatives in the President's February budget and April *Framework*, and in the House-passed budget resolution, for the six functional categories of the federal budget that comprise the human resources "superfunction." The six human resources functions (and their function codes) are

- education, training, employment, and social services (Function 500);
- health (primarily Medicaid) (Function 550);
- Medicare (Function 570);
- income security (Function 600);
- Social Security (Function 650); and
- veterans benefits and services (Function 700).

As shown in **Figure 1**, the human resources superfunction accounts for the majority of federal spending, with nearly 70% of federal outlays in FY2010.

¹ See *The Moment of Truth: Report of the National Commission on Fiscal Responsibility and Reform*, at http://www.fiscalcommission.gov/news/moment-truth-report-national-commission-fiscal-responsibility-and-reform. Also see CRS Report R41784, *Reducing the Budget Deficit: The President's Fiscal Commission and Other Initiatives*, by (name redacted); and CRS Report R41641, *Reducing the Budget Deficit: Tax Policy Options*, by (name redacted).

² The text of these amendments can be found in U.S. Congress, House Rules Committee, report to accompany H.Res. 223, 112th Cong., 1st sess., April 13, 2011, H.Rept. 112-62 (Washington: GPO, 2011).



Figure 1. Federal Outlays by Major Budget Category: FY2010

Outlays as a percent of total federal outlays

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the U.S. Office of Management and Budget.

This report does not discuss the broad outlines of the FY2012 budget proposals, such as their projected levels of total spending, revenues, or deficits. Moreover, the report does not attempt to quantify the costs or savings associated with specific proposals. The purpose of the report is to give a very broad overview of the spending trends and policy recommendations proposed by the Administration and the House budget resolution—specifically, for the human resources budget functions—as background for the detailed budget and appropriations discussions that are taking place this year.

For more information on the budget process itself and the status of the FY2012 budget, see

- CRS Report 98-721, *Introduction to the Federal Budget Process*, coordinated by (name redacted);
- CRS Report R40472, *The Budget Resolution and Spending Legislation*, by Megan Suzanne Lynch; and
- CRS Report R41685, *The Federal Budget: Issues for FY2011, FY2012, and Beyond*, by (name redacted).

What are Budget Functions and Superfunctions?

The federal budget is divided into 20 functional categories (e.g., national defense, health, energy, transportation), which are further divided into subfunctions.³ These functional categories provide a broad statement of budget priorities and facilitate the analysis of trends in related programs; they are used for informational purposes in the congressional budget process. For purposes of analysis, some budget functions are grouped together into budget "superfunctions" (e.g., national defense, human resources, physical resources).

Congress begins formal consideration of the annual budget resolution after the President submits his detailed budget request for the coming fiscal year. (For example, as noted, President Obama submitted his FY2012 budget to Congress in February and the House passed a budget resolution in April.) The congressional budget resolution is not signed by the President and does not become public law. Rather, it is an internal blueprint for Congress to use in its consideration of legislation and spending for the coming fiscal year. The resolution establishes target levels for spending (budget authority and outlays) and revenues, along with an estimate of the deficit (or surplus) and the national debt. The resolution includes targets for the coming fiscal year and projected levels for subsequent years.

Unlike the President's budget request submitted in February, the congressional budget resolution does not specify spending levels by program but instead establishes aggregate spending targets for each of the functional categories referred to above. These aggregate amounts are based on certain "assumptions" about spending for specific programs, but the assumptions are not typically specified in the resolution, nor are they binding on the appropriations committees or committees with jurisdiction over mandatory spending programs or tax provisions. Key assumptions are sometimes identified in the Budget Committee report that accompanies the concurrent resolution. The congressional budget process allows for several enforcement mechanisms to ensure compliance with overall targets established in the resolution.

Organization of This Report

This report continues with a brief overview of the human resources superfunction as a whole, looking at long-term historical and future projected trends in spending under current law, in comparison with other major components of the federal budget. The section compares human resources spending under current law, as estimated by CBO, with the President's February budget request and amounts included in the House budget resolution.

The next section identifies selected overarching policies included in the Administration and House budgets that are intended to reduce spending and/or stabilize the national debt; these policies could directly or indirectly result in lower spending across budget functions. The remainder of the report focuses on the six individual categories that comprise the human resources superfunction. Each section compares the CBO current law baseline for FY2011 through FY2021 with the President's February proposal (as re-estimated by CBO) and the House budget resolution, in constant FY2011 dollars. An **Appendix** to the report includes a table

³ See CRS Report 98-280, Functional Categories of the Federal Budget, by (name redacted)

⁴ See CRS Report 98-815, *Budget Resolution Enforcement*, by (name redacted)

showing each of the human resources budget functions as a percentage of GDP, and two tables showing federal budget authority and outlays (in nominal dollars) for each of the six functions.

Sources of information used in this report include the following:

- The Obama Administration's FY2012 budget documents: http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/budget.
- White House fact sheet on *The President's Framework for Shared Prosperity and Shared Fiscal Responsibility*: http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2011/04/13/fact-sheet-presidents-framework-shared-prosperity-and-shared-fiscal-resp.
- An Analysis of the President's Budgetary Proposals for Fiscal Year 2012, by the Congressional Budget Office: http://www.cbo.gov/doc.cfm?index=12130.
- *The Path to Prosperity: Restoring America's Promise*, House Budget Committee: http://budget.house.gov/UploadedFiles/PathToProsperityFY2012.pdf.
- H.Con.Res. 34, as passed by the House, and the accompanying House Budget Committee report (H.Rept. 112-58).
- *Long-Term Analysis of a Budget Proposal by Chairman Ryan*, by the Congressional Budget Office: http://www.cbo.gov/doc.cfm?index=12128.

The Human Resources Superfunction

Current Law

Figure 2 shows the trend in federal outlays for major categories of the federal budget, as a share of the national economy, from FY1962 through FY2010. The figure also shows CBO's projections for these categories, assuming no change in current law, through FY2021. The figure illustrates the growth in spending for human resources over the last five decades, and shows the importance of this component of the budget, in relation to other government spending. Specifically, the figure shows that outlays for human resources, as a percentage of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), have grown substantially since 1962, when they accounted for 5.6% of GDP. CBO expects they will have peaked in FY2010, at 16.4%, and will fall to 14.8% in FY2014. This pattern reflects the assumed economic recovery, lower spending for programs that respond automatically to economic conditions such as Unemployment Insurance and the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP),⁵ and the expiration of all stimulus funding.⁶

Beginning in FY2015, however, human resources spending would rise again as a share of GDP, according to CBO, reaching 15.7% by FY2021. While this is lower than the FY2010 level of 16.4% of GDP, it still exceeds the pre-recession (2007) level of 12.7%. Fueling this increased spending are several factors, including the continuing effects of the baby boom generation's retirement and increased enrollment in Medicare and Social Security, certain program design features such as wage indexing in Social Security (which allows initial monthly benefits to

⁵ These programs are referred to as automatic stabilizers. For a discussion, see *The Effects of Automatic Stabilizers on the Federal Budget*, by the Congressional Budget Office, April 2011: http://www.cbo.gov/doc.cfm?index=12129.

⁶ American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA, P.L. 111-5).

replace a constant proportion of pre-retirement earnings and keep pace with rising living standards), medical cost inflation in excess of general inflation, and new spending attributable to implementation of the health care reform law of 2010.⁷



Figure 2. Federal Outlays by Major Budget Category as Percent of GDP: FY1962-FY2021

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the Congressional Budget Office (CBO).

Notes: GDP for FY2011 through FY2021 is based on CBO's forecasts and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

The effect of these factors can be seen in **Figure 3**, which shows the trend in outlays for each of the six human resources budget functions, as a share of GDP, from FY1962 through FY2010 and then projected through FY2021. The figure illustrates that spending in the human resources superfunction has been increasingly dominated by four categories: health (Function 500, which primarily consists of Medicaid), Medicare (Function 570), income security (Function 600), and Social Security (Function 650). With no change in current law, CBO projects that spending for income security as a share of GDP will contract over the next decade, as will spending for the two smallest functions—education, training, employment, and social services (Function 500), and veterans benefits and services (Function 700). On the other hand, CBO projects that spending for three functions—health (mostly Medicaid), Medicare, and Social Security—will increasingly consume more of the economy as the population ages and the cost of health care continues to rise.⁸

⁷ Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA, P.L. 111-148, as amended by P.L. 111-152).

⁸ Notably, Social Security is a self-financed program, with income from three sources: payroll taxes paid by covered (continued...)

Most federal low-income programs are included in one of the human resources budget functions, most likely Function 500 (education, training, employment, and social services) or Function 600 (income security), in addition to Function 550, which includes Medicaid and the State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP).⁹ A review of these programs shows the same trend discussed above; that is, health care is growing as a share of the economy while spending for other services (other than Social Security) contracts. A CRS analysis of federal outlays for major federal low-income programs shows aggregate spending for these programs, as a share of GDP, will have peaked in FY2010 but will rise again starting in FY2013. However, all projected growth in spending for these low-income programs will be for health programs (specifically Medicaid, CHIP, and the refundable portion of a health insurance tax credit created under the 2010 health care reform law, which is scheduled to begin in 2014). With no change in current law, spending for non-health low-income programs will increasingly diminish as a share of the economy over the next decade.¹⁰

^{(...}continued)

workers and their employers, federal income taxes paid by some beneficiaries on a portion of their benefits, and interest income from the Social Security trust fund investments. (See section on "Social Security Program Financing" in CRS Report RL33544, *Social Security Reform: Current Issues and Legislation*, by (name redacted).) Medicare is partially financed through a dedicated payroll tax; other sources of financing include beneficiary premiums and general revenues. (See CRS Report R41436, *Medicare Financing*, by (name redacted).)

⁹ For identification and discussion of federal low-income programs, see CRS Report R41625, *Federal Benefits and Services for People with Low Income: Programs, Policy, and Spending, FY2008-FY2009*, by (name redacted).

¹⁰ This analysis can be found in CRS Report R41823, *Low-Income Assistance Programs: Trends in Federal Spending*, by (name redacted).



Figure 3. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as Percent of GDP: FY1962 through FY2021

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the Congressional Budget Office (CBO).

Notes: GDP for FY2011 through FY2021 is based on CBO's forecasts and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10. ETESS = Education, Training, Employment, and Social Services.

Pending Proposals

Figure 4 compares total estimated outlays for the human resources superfunction, as a share of GDP, under CBO's baseline, President Obama's February request, and the House budget resolution, from FY2011 through FY2021. The figure shows that the President's budget closely follows and slightly exceeds the CBO baseline, while the House budget resolution would result in significantly lower spending as a share of the national economy. All three budgets project an immediate drop in spending. Under the CBO baseline and Administration budget, spending would then be relatively flat for most of the period before gradually increasing in the final years of the decade. Under the House budget resolution, spending would continue a gradual decline throughout most of the period, but would also rise slightly at the end of the decade. As stated earlier, CBO projects that human resources spending will equal 15.7% of GDP in FY2021 with no change in policy. This compares with 15.9% under the Administration's budget and 13.5% under the House resolution.

Later sections of this report discuss each of the human resources functional categories specifically, and show trends in projected outlays under the CBO baseline, the President's February request, and the House resolution. As discussed above, CBO expects continued growth in the two health-related functions as well as Social Security. While the House budget resolution

assumes dramatically lower spending for the health function that includes Medicaid, it would result in no significant changes in spending for Medicare or Social Security over the next 10 years. Instead, H.Con.Res. 34 sets targets that would lower spending from the current law baseline in two additional functions: education, training, employment, and social services, and income security.

Figure 4. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as Percent of GDP: FY2011 through FY2021



Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: GDP for FY2011 through FY2021 is based on CBO's forecasts and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

Overarching Policy Proposals

As noted in the beginning of this report, policymakers are concerned about the current and projected future size of the federal deficit, or the gap between spending and revenues.¹¹ Both the Administration and House budget proposals include overarching policies intended to constrain growth in federal spending, among other deficit-reduction proposals. These policies, summarized below, would affect spending in most of the functional categories that are the focus of this report.

¹¹ See CRS Report R41778, *Reducing the Budget Deficit: Policy Issues*, by (name redacted); CRS Report R41784, *Reducing the Budget Deficit: The President's Fiscal Commission and Other Initiatives*, by (name redacted); and CRS Report R41641, *Reducing the Budget Deficit: Tax Policy Options*, by (name redacted).

Administration Budget

- In its February budget submission, the Administration proposed to freeze nonsecurity discretionary spending through FY2015 at FY2010 levels.¹² This would not be an across-the-board reduction (affecting all programs equally) but rather an overall freeze with critical areas singled out for increased spending. Specific amounts are identified in the Administration's budget documents.
- In his April *Framework*, President Obama proposed additional reductions in nonsecurity discretionary spending, beyond those included in the February budget. According to a White House fact sheet, these reductions would be consistent with the spending recommendations of the National Commission on Fiscal Responsibility and Reform over the next decade.¹³
- Also in the April *Framework*, President Obama announced a "debt failsafe" that would trigger further reductions in spending (including mandatory spending and tax expenditures). This provision would establish that if, by 2014, the projected ratio of debt to GDP is not stabilized and shown to be declining during the second half of the decade, automatic across-the-board spending cuts would be triggered. The White House fact sheet notes that this trigger would not apply to Social Security, low-income programs,¹⁴ or benefits for Medicare enrollees.

House Budget Resolution

- The House budget resolution establishes spending targets that assume a reduction in discretionary non-security spending to below FY2008 levels and a five-year freeze.¹⁵ As noted earlier, the congressional budget resolution does not establish spending levels for individual programs; these decisions are made through the appropriations process, within the overall spending targets set by the budget resolution.¹⁶
- The House budget resolution also calls for a series of steps intended to enforce both the discretionary spending and the total spending caps included in the resolution. These mechanisms would trigger automatic across-the-board spending reductions unless Congress moves to avoid such across-the-board reductions

¹² For an analysis of this proposal, see CRS Report R41174, *Impact on the Federal Budget of Freezing Non-Security Discretionary Spending*, by (name redacted).

¹³ See *The Moment of Truth: Report of the National Commission on Fiscal Responsibility and Reform*, at http://www.fiscalcommission.gov/news/moment-truth-report-national-commission-fiscal-responsibility-and-reform.

¹⁴ The fact sheet does not identify which programs would be considered "low-income" for this purpose.

¹⁵ House Budget Committee Chairman Ryan's Path to Prosperity says the budget resolution sets spending targets that are below the levels set by H.R. 1, which was the full-year FY2011 continuing appropriations resolution passed by the House in February and defeated by the Senate in March. See CRS Report R41703, *FY2011 Appropriations: A Side-by-Side Comparison of Key Proposals*, coordinated by (name redacted) and Marian Leonardo Lawson.

¹⁶ Under Section 302(a) of the Congressional Budget Act of 1974 (P.L. 93-344, as amended), discretionary spending allocations are made to the House and Senate Appropriations Committees, reflecting the discretionary spending targets established in the congressional budget resolution; under Section 302(b) of the Budget Act, these allocations are further divided among each of the appropriations subcommittees. On May 11, 2011, House Appropriations Committee Chairman Rogers announced preliminary "302(b) allocations" to the subcommittees, reflecting the spending targets in H.Con.Res. 34, as passed by the House. They are available at http://republicans.appropriations.house.gov/_files/ 51111FY2012SubcommitteeAllocations302bs.pdf.

through enactment of legislation under expedited procedures. Social Security would be exempt from these enforcement mechanisms.

These overarching proposals are key components of both the Administration and House budget plans. They are reflected in the trend lines shown above in **Figure 4** and in the following sections, which illustrate and discuss the trends in projected outlays for each of the six functions categorized as human resources.

Function 500: Education, Training, Employment, and Social Services (ETESS)

Function 500 includes funding for the Department of Education (ED), social services programs within the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), and employment and training programs within the Department of Labor (DOL). It also contains funding for the Library of Congress and independent research and art agencies such as the Corporation for Public Broadcasting, the Smithsonian Institution, the National Gallery of Art, the John F. Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts, the National Endowment for the Arts, and the National Endowment for the Humanities.¹⁷ Most spending under Function 500 is discretionary. However, mandatory spending includes student financial assistance, some training and employment services, and Social Services Block Grants.

Spending under this function is divided among the following six subfunctions: ¹⁸

- elementary, secondary, and vocational education;
- higher education;
- research and general education aids;
- training and employment;
- other labor services; and
- social services.

Figure 5 shows estimated outlays for Function 500 programs, from FY2011 through FY2021 in constant FY2011 dollars, under the CBO baseline, the Administration's February budget request, and the House budget resolution. As illustrated, the Administration's February request exceeds the CBO baseline for most of the period by a relatively small and gradually diminishing amount, while the House resolution envisions spending at substantially lower levels than the CBO baseline. By FY2021, Function 500 spending under the Administration's February budget would be virtually identical to the CBO baseline (1% higher), while the House budget resolution assumes spending would be 36% below the baseline. (Note that the President's April *Framework* proposes additional reductions in discretionary spending that presumably would lower estimated spending under the Administration's 500.)

¹⁷ Budget function descriptions used in this report can be found on the House Budget Committee website: http://budget.house.gov/BudgetProcess/BudgetFunctions.htm.

¹⁸ For long-term trends in discretionary spending for each of the Function 500 subfunctions, see Figure 2 in CRS Report R41726, *Discretionary Budget Authority by Subfunction: An Overview*, by (name redacted).

Figure 5. Federal Outlays for the ETESS Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021

Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (Dollars in billions)



Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: Inflation adjustment is based on the implicit price deflator for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) based on CBO's forecast and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10. ETESS = Education, Training, Employment, and Social Services.

As a function dominated by discretionary spending, Function 500 would be affected by the Administration's proposals to reduce and freeze overall discretionary non-security spending through FY2015; however, Function 500 also includes several policy areas identified by the White House as critical investments for the future. These include education and workforce development, where the Administration has proposed a variety of reforms and program consolidations, as well as increased spending for certain programs, offset by termination of others. Certain savings would be achieved from changes to Pell grants and student loans, which would help offset the cost of maintaining the current maximum Pell grant award.¹⁹ The Administration also proposes to permanently extend and index the American Opportunity Credit, a partially refundable tax credit for the costs of higher education that was originally created by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA, P.L. 111-5).

¹⁹ For background, see CRS Report R41437, *Federal Pell Grant Program of the Higher Education Act: Background, Recent Changes, and Current Legislative Issues*, by (name redacted).

As displayed in **Figure 5**, spending for Function 500 under the House budget resolution would drop sharply in FY2013 and stay relatively constant for the rest of the decade. This trend reflects the deeper overall discretionary spending cuts and freeze assumed by the House resolution, including consolidation and termination of various job training, elementary and secondary education, and cultural programs. The House resolution also assumes certain changes to Pell grants and student loans, but would adopt a "sustainable" maximum Pell grant award rather than the current maximum level.

Function 550: Health

Function 550 includes most direct health care services programs, most notably Medicaid. Other health programs in this function fund anti-bioterrorism activities, national biomedical research, activities to protect the health of the general population and workers in their places of employment, health services for under-served populations, and training for the health care workforce. Some of the HHS agencies funded in this function include the National Institutes of Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Health Resources and Services Administration, and the Food and Drug Administration. The major mandatory programs in this function are Medicaid, the State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), federal and retirees' health benefits, and health care for Medicare-eligible military retirees.

Spending under this function is divided among the following three subfunctions:²⁰

- health care services,
- health research and training, and
- consumer and occupational health and safety.

Figure 6 shows estimated outlays for Function 550 programs, from FY2011 through FY2021 in constant FY2011 dollars, under the CBO baseline, the Administration's February budget request, and the House budget resolution. The difference in trends is stark. The Administration budget would track closely with CBO, which expects an initial drop in Medicaid spending in FY2012, due to the scheduled expiration of enhanced federal matching to states initially authorized by ARRA, and the effects of the economic recovery on the Medicaid caseload. However, spending would then climb sharply, starting in FY2013, under both the CBO baseline and the Administration's February budget. The House budget resolution, on the other hand, envisions a decrease in spending until FY2014, followed by a relatively flat line through FY2018, and a slight increase for the balance of the decade. In FY2021, the Administration's February budget would result in estimated outlays only slightly (2%) lower than the CBO baseline, while outlays would be 50% lower under the House budget resolution's spending targets.

²⁰ The vast majority of spending in Function 550 is mandatory, for Medicaid and CHIP. For long-term trends in *discretionary* spending for the health care services and health research and training subfunctions, see Figures 3 and 4 in CRS Report R41726, *Discretionary Budget Authority by Subfunction: An Overview*, by (name redacted).

Figure 6. Federal Outlays for the Health Budget Function, in Constant 2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021



Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (Dollars in billions)

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: Inflation adjustment is based on the implicit price deflator for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) based on CBO's forecast and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

Medicaid is the primary driver of spending in Function 550. In its request for Medicaid and Medicare (discussed below), the Administration cites the major changes to both programs already enacted in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (PPACA, P.L. 111-148, as amended by P.L. 111-152). The Administration's FY2012 budget includes additional Medicaid proposals intended to improve program integrity (reduce fraud, waste, and abuse), limit reimbursement rates for durable medical equipment, simplify the federal-state matching formulas under Medicaid and CHIP,²¹ and improve patient safety. The President's *Framework* also expresses support for proposals to reform service delivery to high-cost beneficiaries, including those eligible for both Medicaid and Medicare (dual eligibles), and calls on the National Governors Association to make additional recommendations for Medicaid reform.

The House Budget Committee, in its accompanying report, notes that the budget resolution assumes a "fundamental reform" of Medicaid. The report lists a series of "potential approaches,"

²¹ For an explanation of the Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP), which is the formula used to determine the federal and state shares of spending under Medicaid and CHIP, see CRS Report RL32950, *Medicaid: The Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP)*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

including conversion of the federal share of Medicaid spending into an allotment (a block grant), which would be indexed for inflation and population growth. The committee advocates repealing the Medicaid expansions enacted in PPACA, which are scheduled to begin in 2014, and the PPACA provisions authorizing subsidies to help low-income individuals purchase health insurance through exchanges. The resolution also assumes elimination of the individual mandate to purchase insurance, established under PPACA. The House budget resolution further assumes savings would be achieved by repealing any unspent funds provided under ARRA and other associated provisions in PPACA.²²

Function 570: Medicare

Function 570 includes only the Medicare program, which provides health insurance to individuals age 65 or older and certain persons with disabilities. Nearly 99% of spending in this function is mandatory, and almost all of the mandatory spending consists of payments for Medicare benefits. Congress provides an annual appropriation for the costs of administering and monitoring the Medicare program.²³

Figure 7 shows estimated outlays for Medicare, from FY2011 through FY2021 in constant FY2011 dollars, under the CBO baseline, the Administration's February budget request, and the House budget resolution. The figure illustrates relatively little difference between the three, which all show significantly increasing spending for Medicare throughout the decade, caused by an aging population and rising health care costs. Estimated spending in FY2021 would exceed the CBO current law baseline by 5% under the President's February budget and would be 3% lower than CBO's projections under the House resolution.

²² For a more complete discussion of the House budget resolution's Medicaid and private health insurance proposals, see CRS Report R41767, *Overview of Health Care Changes in the FY2012 Budget Offered by House Budget Committee Chairman Ryan*, by (name redacted), (name redacted), and (name redacted).

²³ For the long-term trends in *discretionary* spending included in Function 570 (primarily Medicare administration), see Figure 3 in CRS Report R41726, *Discretionary Budget Authority by Subfunction: An Overview*, by (name redacted).

Figure 7. Federal Outlays for the Medicare Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021



Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (Dollars in billions)

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: Inflation adjustment is based on the implicit price deflator for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) based on CBO's forecast and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

As noted above, the Administration's budget cites changes to Medicare already enacted in PPACA, and includes various proposals intended to build on these provisions. In addition, the February budget proposed a 10-year freeze on physician payment rates under Medicare at FY2011 levels (the so-called "doc fix"), which would otherwise decline under the sustainable growth rate formula in current law.²⁴ The increased cost of this proposal would be offset by specified savings during the first two years. The April *Framework* assumes, but does not specify, additional aggregate savings that would fully pay for the "doc fix" provision over the 10-year budget window. The *Framework* says the Independent Payment Advisory Board (IPAB), created by PPACA, will set a lower target of Medicare growth per beneficiary and be given additional tools to promote quality care and reduce costs.²⁵ The Administration's budget also includes proposals to cut prescription drug costs, and reduce Medicare waste, fraud, and abuse.

²⁴ For background, see CRS Report R40907, *Medicare Physician Payment Updates and the Sustainable Growth Rate (SGR) System*, by (name redacted).

²⁵ For background, see CRS Report R41511, *The Independent Payment Advisory Board*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

One of the most widely reported provisions in the House budget resolution assumes enactment of legislation to convert Medicare into a "premium subsidy" program. However, as envisioned in the budget resolution, this change would not take effect until FY2022, which is beyond the resolution's 10-year budget window and is therefore not reflected in **Figure 7**. The resolution assumes additional changes affecting Medicare, including enactment of a long-term solution to the physician payment rate formula. The resolution contains a "reserve fund" to accommodate the SGR fix; this provision would allow for consideration of legislation that would reform SGR, as long as the legislation did not increase the deficit for the period FY2012-FY2021. The resolution also assumes a requirement that any potential savings in Medicare be reinvested into the program; elimination of the IPAB; and enactment of changes to laws governing medical liability, including limits on noneconomic and punitive damages.²⁶

Function 600: Income Security

Function 600 includes a range of income security programs that provide cash or near-cash assistance (e.g., housing, nutrition, and energy assistance) to low-income persons, and benefits to certain retirees, persons with disabilities, and the unemployed. Housing assistance programs account for the largest share of discretionary funding in this function. Major federal entitlement programs in this function include Unemployment Insurance, Trade Adjustment Assistance income support, the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP, formerly food stamps), Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), foster care, and Supplemental Security Income (SSI). The refundable portion of the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) and the refundable Additional Child Tax Credit (ACTC)²⁷ are also included in this function. Federal and other retirement and disability programs comprise approximately one-third of funds in Function 600.

Spending under this function is divided among the following six subfunctions:²⁸

- general retirement and disability insurance (excluding Social Security),
- federal employee retirement and disability,
- unemployment compensation,
- housing assistance,
- food and nutrition assistance, and
- other income security.

Figure 8 shows estimated outlays for Function 600 programs, from FY2011 through FY2021 in constant FY2011 dollars, under the CBO baseline, the Administration's February budget request,

²⁶ For a more complete discussion of the House budget resolution's Medicare proposals, see CRS Report R41767, *Overview of Health Care Changes in the FY2012 Budget Offered by House Budget Committee Chairman Ryan*, by (name redacted), (name redacted), and (name redacted).

²⁷ The ACTC is a refundable credit, available to certain families who also qualify for the nonrefundable Child Tax Credit but whose tax liability is too low for them to fully benefit from the nonrefundable credit. The refundable portions of tax credits such as EITC and ACTC are recorded as outlays; the nonrefundable portions are considered tax expenditures.

²⁸ For long-term trends in discretionary spending for each of the subfunctions included in Function 600, see Figure 5 in CRS Report R41726, *Discretionary Budget Authority by Subfunction: An Overview*, by (name redacted).

and the House budget resolution. The figure shows the Administration's budget is identical to the CBO baseline until FY2013. Both lines then show decreased spending through FY2018, but outlays would decline at a slower rate under the Administration's February proposals. The CBO baseline assumes recession-related spending will decline, and also assumes expiration of certain temporary provisions, including expansions of the EITC, ACTC, and extended Unemployment Insurance. The House budget resolution shows a sharper drop in spending continuing through FY2015, with outlays leveling off and staying relatively constant through FY2021. The President's budget projects FY2021 outlays would be 6% higher than the CBO baseline, while they would be 11% lower than CBO under the House budget resolution.

Figure 8. Federal Outlays for the Income Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021



Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (Dollars in billions)

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: : Inflation adjustment is based on the implicit price deflator for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) based on CBO's forecast and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

Like the CBO baseline, the Administration's budget assumes reduced recession-related spending for UI and SNAP as the economy recovers. The Administration's proposals to reduce discretionary spending also would apply to certain programs in this function, and include a relatively deep cut in the Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP). However, the Administration also proposes to permanently extend certain tax provisions, including expansions of the EITC and the ACTC, which were initially authorized under ARRA and are

scheduled to expire under current law. The President's budget includes provisions intended to address the unfunded liabilities in the UI system and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

As shown in the figure, the House budget resolution assumes lower spending for Function 600 programs, at least partially due to deeper cuts in discretionary non-security spending. In its accompanying report, the House Budget Committee also cites conversion of SNAP (food stamps) into a block grant to states as a possible policy option in this category, with state allotments indexed for food inflation and eligibility, starting in FY2015. The report also refers to a welfare reform provision that is discussed more fully in Chairman Ryan's *Path to Prosperity*. The 1996 welfare reform law applied work requirements and time limits to recipients of cash aid under TANF; such requirements would also be applied to recipients of SNAP benefits and housing assistance, according to Chairman Ryan's description of the budget resolution. The resolution assumes enactment of a provision that would require federal employees to contribute a greater share toward their retirement; elimination of the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP), which was intended to help homeowners avoid foreclosure; and reform of the PBGC.

Function 650: Social Security

Function 650 consists of the payroll tax-financed programs that are collectively known as Social Security: Old-Age and Survivors Insurance and Disability Insurance (OASDI). This function includes both Social Security benefit payments (mandatory) and funds to administer the program (discretionary).²⁹

Figure 9 shows estimated outlays for Function 650, from FY2011 through FY2021 in constant FY2011 dollars, under the CBO baseline, the Administration's February budget request, and the House budget resolution. The figure shows virtually no difference between the three lines, as neither the Administration nor the House budget resolution assumes significant policy changes in Social Security within the 10-year budget window. Note that **Figure 9** shows outlays for both the on-budget and off-budget portions of Social Security.³⁰

²⁹ For long-term trends in discretionary spending for Social Security, see Figure 5 in CRS Report R41726, *Discretionary Budget Authority by Subfunction: An Overview*, by (name redacted).

³⁰ Most Social Security spending is "off-budget," which means it is not included in the annual congressional budget process. For an explanation, see the section titled "On-Budget Versus Off-Budget" in CRS Report RL33028, *Social Security: The Trust Fund*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

Figure 9. Federal Outlays for the Social Security Budget Function, in Constant FY2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021



Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (Dollars in billions)

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: Inflation adjustment is based on the implicit price deflator for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) based on CBO's forecast and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

Although the Administration's budget contains no specific Social Security proposals, President Obama expressed support for bipartisan efforts to strengthen Social Security for the long term and put forth a set of principles to govern these reform efforts.³¹ These principles were reiterated in the April *Framework* and include strengthening retirement security for low-income and vulnerable beneficiaries and maintaining "robust" disability and survivors' benefits; no "privatization" of Social Security; restoration of long-term solvency; and no reduction in basic benefits for current beneficiaries or "slashing" of benefits for future generations.

In its report on the budget resolution, the House Budget Committee refers to the December 2010 recommendations of the President's Commission on Fiscal Responsibility and Reform as demonstration "that there is a bipartisan way forward" on Social Security reform. In the interim, the resolution would require the Social Security Board of Trustees to recommend statutory reforms to the President in any year when the Trustees find the 75-year actuarial balance and the annual balance in the 75th year are in deficit. The President would be required to submit

³¹ For a discussion of Social Security reform issues and current proposals, see CRS Report RL33544, *Social Security Reform: Current Issues and Legislation*, by (name redacted).

legislation to implement these recommendations by a certain deadline and congressional committees would be required to report legislation under expedited procedures.

Function 700: Veterans Benefits and Services

Function 700 covers the programs of the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), including veterans' medical care, compensation and pensions, education and rehabilitation benefits, and housing programs. It also includes the Department of Labor's Veterans' Employment and Training Service, the United States Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims, and the American Battle Monuments Commission. This function includes both mandatory and discretionary spending accounts. Mandatory funding supports disability compensation, pension benefits, education, vocational rehabilitation, life insurance, and burial benefits, among other benefits and services. Discretionary funding supports a broad array of benefits and services; almost 90% of appropriated funding in Function 700 goes to veterans' health care.

Spending under this function is divided among five subfunctions:³²

- income security for veterans;
- veterans education, training, and rehabilitation;
- hospital and medical care for veterans;
- veterans housing; and
- other veterans benefits and services.

Figure 10 shows estimated outlays for Function 700 programs, from FY2011 through FY2021 in constant FY2011 dollars, under the CBO baseline, the Administration's February budget request, and the House budget resolution. The Administration and House budgets for veterans benefits and services are virtually identical, and both very slightly exceed the CBO baseline.³³

³² For long-term trends in discretionary spending for each of the subfunctions included in Function 700, see Figure 5 in CRS Report R41726, *Discretionary Budget Authority by Subfunction: An Overview*, by (name redacted). The hospital and medical care subfunction is also displayed in Figure 4 of CRS Report R41726.

³³ For a discussion of the Administration's FY2012 budget request for veterans' benefits and services, see CRS Report R41688, *Veterans Affairs: A Preliminary Analysis of the FY2012 Appropriations Request*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

Figure 10. Federal Outlays for the Veterans Benefits and Service Budget Function, in Constant 2011 Dollars: FY2011 through FY2021



Under the CBO baseline, CBO's re-estimate of President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (Dollars in billions)

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: Inflation adjustment is based on the implicit price deflator for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) based on CBO's forecast and projections. Outlays in FY2011 were estimated prior to enactment of the full-year continuing appropriations resolution, P.L. 112-10.

Conclusion

Programs categorized as "human resources" comprise the majority of federal outlays and have grown over the last five decades as a share of the overall national economy. CBO expects that spending for these programs will have peaked in FY2010 and will fall through FY2014, although spending levels will remain higher than they were before the recent recession. CBO further expects that overall human resources spending will begin to climb again starting in FY2015; however, all of the projected growth will be in health care (Medicaid and Medicare) and Social Security. All other components of the human resources superfunction will diminish as a share of the economy over the coming decade, according to CBO's current law baseline.

The Administration and Congress are engaged in a debate over reducing the federal deficit and stabilizing the national debt; proposals to reduce and change the composition of federal spending are a major part of this debate. In February, the Administration gave Congress a detailed budget request for FY2012, which includes proposals to reduce spending for certain programs and

increase spending for others; the February budget request was followed in April with an additional set of deficit reduction principles. Based on an analysis of the February budget, the Administration proposes no overall reduction in outlays for the human resources superfunction, although some of the proposals included in the April *Framework* would further lower spending for this portion of the budget. The budget resolution passed in April by the House, on the other hand, sets spending targets that would reduce outlays in the human resources superfunction to a level that would be 14% below the CBO baseline by FY2021.

Within the human resources category, the House resolution would reduce spending primarily in three functions. By FY2021, the resolution would result in spending for Function 500 (education, training, employment, and social services, or ETESS) that is 36% below the CBO baseline. The largest reduction from the CBO baseline, if all provisions in the House resolution were enacted, would occur in Function 550 (health, including Medicaid); the House spending target for this function in FY2021 would be 50% below the baseline. Finally, spending for Function 600 (income security) in FY2021 would be 11% below the baseline under the House resolution. As noted earlier in this report, most federal programs specifically directed to low-income populations are in the human resources superfunction and are most likely to be included in the three specific functions just mentioned.

In comparing these proposals, it is important to note the significant difference in size among the functions. For example, while the House budget resolution envisions a relatively large reduction in spending for Function 500 (ETESS) than would otherwise occur under current law, this proposal would contribute relatively little toward deficit reduction because of the small size of the function overall. On the other hand, with no change in current law CBO expects the function that includes Medicaid will be more than six times larger than Function 500 in FY2021 and the income security function will be more than four times larger; thus, reductions from the baseline in these functions would yield greater savings.

Although the House resolution assumes conversion of Medicare into a premium subsidy program, this would not take effect until FY2022, which is beyond the 10-year budget window and therefore not reflected in the spending trends displayed in this report. Likewise, neither the Administration's budget nor the House budget resolution includes specific changes to Social Security or veterans benefits and services. Social Security is currently the largest of the human resources functions under current law, and would remain so under both the Administration and House proposals, with projected spending in FY2021 that is 10 times that of Function 500 (ETESS) and more than twice that of Function 600 (income security). Projected Medicare spending would be more than seven times that of Function 500 in FY2021 and more than 50% larger than Function 600.

Appendix. Tables

Table A-1. Federal Outlays for Human Resources Budget Functions as a Percent of GDP: FY2012-FY2021 Under the CBO baseline, President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 ETESS (Function 500) CBO Baseline 0.68% 0.60% 0.57% 0.57% 0.58% 0.57% 0.53% 0.58% 0.56% 0.54% President's Budget 0.75 0.63 0.61 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.58 0.57 0.55 0.53 0.45 0.39 0.39 0.38 0.38 0.37 0.34 House Budget Resolution 0.64 0.36 0.35 Change from CBO Baseline President's Budget 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.07 0.04 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 House Budget Resolution -0.18 -0.19 -0.20 -0.04 -0.15 -0.19 -0.20 -0.20 -0.19 -0.19 Health (Function 550) **CBO** Baseline 2.28 2.25 2.54 2.81 3.00 3.10 3.14 3.22 3.28 3.36 President's Budget 2.31 2.27 2.54 2.79 2.98 3.05 3.09 3.17 3.23 3.30 House Budget Resolution 2.21 2.08 1.86 1.73 1.70 1.71 1.66 1.69 1.67 1.68 Change from CBO Baseline President's Budget 0.02 0.02 0.00 -0.01 -0.02 -0.05 -0.05 -0.05 -0.05 -0.07 -0.17 -1.39 House Budget Resolution -0.07 -0.68 -1.07 -1.30 -1.48 -1.53 -1.60 -1.68 Medicare (Function 570) **CBO** Baseline 3.07 3.17 3.18 3.14 3.23 3.20 3.17 3.31 3.40 3.49

3.28

3.15

3.38

3.24

3.34

3.19

3.32

3.14

3.47

3.26

3.56

3.32

3.66

3.40

President's Budget

House Budget Resolution

3.16

3.07

3.29

3.17

3.31

3.19

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|---|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 0.08 | 0.11 | 0.13 | 0.14 | 0.14 | 0.14 | 0.15 | 0.16 | 0.16 | 0.17 |
| House Budget Resolution | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.00 | -0.01 | -0.03 | -0.05 | -0.08 | -0.09 |
| Income Security (Function 600) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 3.37 | 3.18 | 2.82 | 2.67 | 2.60 | 2.46 | 2.35 | 2.34 | 2.30 | 2.25 |
| President's Budget | 3.39 | 3.19 | 3.02 | 2.85 | 2.76 | 2.62 | 2.50 | 2.49 | 2.43 | 2.38 |
| House Budget Resolution | 3.19 | 2.97 | 2.64 | 2.36 | 2.29 | 2.17 | 2.07 | 2.08 | 2.04 | 2.0 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 0.02 | 0.00 | 0.20 | 0.17 | 0.16 | 0.16 | 0.15 | 0.14 | 0.14 | 0.13 |
| House Budget Resolution | -0.18 | -0.21 | -0.18 | -0.32 | -0.30 | -0.29 | -0.28 | -0.26 | -0.25 | -0.24 |
| Social Security (Function 650) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 4.88 | 4.91 | 4.91 | 4.91 | 4.94 | 5.00 | 5.08 | 5.17 | 5.26 | 5.3 |
| President's Budget | 4.89 | 4.91 | 4.91 | 4.91 | 4.93 | 5.00 | 5.08 | 5.17 | 5.26 | 5.34 |
| House Budget Resolution | 4.88 | 4.90 | 4.91 | 4.91 | 4.93 | 5.00 | 5.08 | 5.17 | 5.26 | 5.34 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 0.01 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.0 |
| House Budget Resolution | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.0 |
| Veterans Benefits and Service (Function 700) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 0.81 | 0.78 | 0.77 | 0.75 | 0.76 | 0.72 | 0.68 | 0.69 | 0.68 | 0.67 |
| President's Budget | 0.82 | 0.79 | 0.78 | 0.76 | 0.77 | 0.73 | 0.69 | 0.71 | 0.70 | 0.69 |
| House Budget Resolution | 0.81 | 0.79 | 0.78 | 0.76 | 0.77 | 0.73 | 0.69 | 0.71 | 0.70 | 0.69 |

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| House Budget Resolution | 0.00 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| Total Human Resources | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 15.10 | 14.90 | 14.79 | 14.86 | 15.10 | 15.05 | 14.99 | 15.30 | 15.46 | 15.65 |
| President's Budget | 15.31 | 15.08 | 15.17 | 15.19 | 15.42 | 15.33 | 15.26 | 15.56 | 15.72 | 15.90 |
| House Budget Resolution | 14.80 | 14.36 | 13.77 | 13.30 | 13.31 | 13.17 | 13.01 | 13.26 | 13.34 | 13.46 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 0.20 | 0.18 | 0.38 | 0.33 | 0.32 | 0.28 | 0.27 | 0.27 | 0.26 | 0.24 |
| House Budget Resolution | -0.30 | -0.53 | -1.02 | -1.56 | -1.79 | -1.88 | -1.98 | -2.04 | -2.12 | -2.20 |

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Notes: GDP for FY2011 through FY2021 is based on CBO's forecasts and projections.

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------------------|---------|---------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| ETESS (Function 500) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 92,170 | 96,253 | 100,772 | 106,408 | 113,450 | 118,547 | 120,926 | 123,294 | 125,228 | 127,437 |
| President's Budget | 107,785 | 100,681 | 106,163 | 110,943 | 117,863 | 121,741 | 123,533 | 125,410 | 126,767 | 128,562 |
| House Budget Resolution | 67,122 | 63,887 | 66,076 | 69,446 | 73,314 | 75,371 | 76,798 | 78,314 | 79,629 | 80,952 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 15,615 | 4,428 | 5,391 | 4,535 | 4,413 | 3,194 | 2,607 | 2,116 | 1,539 | 1,125 |
| House Budget Resolution | -25,048 | -32,366 | -34,696 | -36,962 | -40,136 | -43,176 | -44,128 | -44,980 | -45,599 | -46,485 |
| Health (Function 550) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 356,582 | 373,799 | 457,053 | 523,169 | 570,837 | 618,055 | 660,014 | 706,203 | 761,410 | 805,008 |
| President's Budget | 359,390 | 374,467 | 455,790 | 519,559 | 566,166 | 608,114 | 649,482 | 695,131 | 749,822 | 789,029 |
| House Budget Resolution | 341,873 | 343,733 | 338,064 | 327,012 | 320,409 | 339,663 | 349,840 | 371,826 | 395,908 | 404,674 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 2,808 | 668 | -1,263 | -3,610 | -4,671 | -9,941 | -10,532 | -11,072 | -11,588 | -15,979 |
| House Budget Resolution | -14,709 | -30,066 | -118,989 | -196,157 | -250,428 | -278,392 | -310,174 | -334,377 | -365,502 | -400,334 |
| Medicare (Function 570) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 482,711 | 520,231 | 548,639 | 571,516 | 618,802 | 640,677 | 663,653 | 723,711 | 776,05 l | 830,418 |
| President's Budget | 495,757 | 539,025 | 570,645 | 596,137 | 645,818 | 669,667 | 694,799 | 757,794 | 812,846 | 870,672 |
| House Budget Resolution | 481,521 | 519,903 | 550,105 | 573,252 | 618,945 | 637,938 | 657,067 | 711,486 | 758,271 | 809,106 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 13,046 | 18,794 | 22,006 | 24,621 | 27,016 | 28,990 | 31,146 | 34,083 | 36,795 | 40,254 |
| House Budget Resolution | -1,190 | -328 | 1,466 | 1,736 | 143 | -2,739 | -6,586 | -12,225 | -17,780 | -21,312 |

Table A-2. Federal Budget Authority for Human Resources Budget Functions: FY2012-FY2021Under the CBO baseline, President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (nominal dollars in millions)

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|---|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----------|
| Income Security (Function 600) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 534,346 | 524,859 | 488,868 | 489,260 | 495,528 | 495,553 | 499,548 | 515,122 | 526,706 | 539,225 |
| President's Budget | 537,181 | 524,400 | 522,748 | 520,252 | 527,507 | 527,892 | 532,056 | 547,509 | 559,122 | 571,72 |
| House Budget Resolution | 501,664 | 487,498 | 457,308 | 431,150 | 436,659 | 436,985 | 441,467 | 457,183 | 468,308 | 480,687 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 2,835 | -459 | 33,880 | 30,992 | 31,979 | 32,339 | 32,508 | 32,387 | 32,416 | 32,502 |
| House-Passed Budget Resolution | -32,682 | -37,361 | -31,560 | -58,110 | -58,869 | -58,568 | -58,081 | -57,939 | -58,398 | -58,538 |
| Social Security (Function 650) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 769,468 | 808,220 | 851,456 | 898,521 | 949,770 | 1,007,309 | 1,070,010 | 1,136,723 | 1,207,667 | I,279,76 |
| President's Budget | 770,184 | 808,309 | 851,373 | 898,097 | 948,919 | 1,006,070 | 1,068,530 | 1,135,040 | 1,205,787 | 1,277,69 |
| House Budget Resolution | 769,060 | 807,668 | 850,744 | 897,641 | 948,701 | 1,006,098 | 1,068,714 | 1,135,334 | 1,206,195 | I,278,20 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 716 | 89 | -83 | -424 | -85 I | -1,239 | -1,480 | -1,683 | -1,880 | -2,07 |
| House Budget Resolution | -408 | -552 | -712 | -880 | -1,069 | -1,211 | -1,296 | -1,389 | -1,472 | -1,558 |
| Veterans' Benefits and Services (Function 700) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 127,813 | 128,896 | 132,578 | 136,153 | 145,056 | 143,844 | 142,817 | 152,337 | 156,667 | 161,032 |
| President's Budget | 128,332 | 130,012 | 134,125 | 138,143 | 147,382 | 146,311 | 145,399 | 155,078 | 159,666 | 164,36 |
| House Budget Resolution | 128,339 | 130,024 | 134,143 | 138,167 | 147,410 | 146,323 | 145,412 | 155,091 | 159,680 | 164,38 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 519 | 1,116 | 1,547 | 1,990 | 2,326 | 2,467 | 2,582 | 2,741 | 2,999 | 3,33 |
| House Budget Resolution | 526 | 1,128 | 1,565 | 2,014 | 2,354 | 2,479 | 2,595 | 2,754 | 3,013 | 3,349 |

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Total Human Resources | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 2,363,090 | 2,452,258 | 2,579,366 | 2,725,027 | 2,893,443 | 3,023,985 | 3,156,968 | 3,357,390 | 3,553,729 | 3,742,886 |
| President's Budget | 2,398,629 | 2,476,894 | 2,640,844 | 2,783,131 | 2,953,655 | 3,079,795 | 3,213,799 | 3,415,962 | 3,614,010 | 3,802,052 |
| House Budget Resolution | 2,289,579 | 2,352,713 | 2,396,440 | 2,436,668 | 2,545,438 | 2,642,378 | 2,739,298 | 2,909,234 | 3,067,991 | 3,218,008 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 35,539 | 24,636 | 61,478 | 58,104 | 60,212 | 55,810 | 56,831 | 58,572 | 60,281 | 59,166 |
| House Budget Resolution | -73,511 | -99,545 | -182,926 | -288,359 | -348,005 | -381,607 | -417,670 | -448,156 | -485,738 | -524,878 |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS), based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

| | | | | 0 | 0 | | | , | | |
|--------------------------|---------|---------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
| ETESS (Function 500) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 106,567 | 97,952 | 98,900 | 104,557 | 110,416 | 115,636 | 119,255 | 121,704 | 123,942 | 125,962 |
| President's Budget | 117,304 | 103,526 | 105,009 | 109,928 | 115,088 | 119,756 | 122,340 | 124,132 | 125,749 | 127,336 |
| House Budget Resolution | 100,012 | 73,071 | 68,044 | 70,450 | 73,310 | 75,665 | 77,013 | 78,385 | 79,806 | 81,047 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 10,737 | 5,574 | 6,109 | 5,371 | 4,672 | 4,120 | 3,085 | 2,428 | 1,807 | 1,374 |
| House Budget Resolution | -6,555 | -24,881 | -30,856 | -34,107 | -37,106 | -39,971 | -42,242 | -43,319 | -44,136 | -44,915 |
| Health (Function 550) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 358,252 | 369,094 | 438,480 | 510,544 | 574,941 | 620,635 | 657,339 | 702,939 | 747,616 | 801,097 |
| President's Budget | 362,012 | 372,417 | 438,883 | 507,922 | 570,707 | 611,004 | 647,047 | 692,103 | 736,279 | 785,268 |
| House Budget Resolution | 346,636 | 340,608 | 320,444 | 315,117 | 325,200 | 342,703 | 347,303 | 368,558 | 382,056 | 400,682 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 3,760 | 3,323 | 403 | -2,622 | -4,234 | -9,631 | -10,292 | -10,836 | -11,337 | -15,829 |
| House Budget Resolution | -11,616 | -28,486 | -118,036 | -195,427 | -249,741 | -277,932 | -310,036 | -334,381 | -365,560 | -400,415 |
| Medicare (Function 570) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 482,534 | 520,411 | 548,498 | 571,322 | 618,967 | 640,526 | 663,443 | 723,862 | 775,884 | 830,224 |
| President's Budget | 495,426 | 539,219 | 570,567 | 595,989 | 646,017 | 669,549 | 694,627 | 757,986 | 812,722 | 870,524 |
| House Budget Resolution | 481,816 | 520,406 | 550,248 | 573,333 | 619,385 | 638,059 | 657,111 | 711,897 | 758,376 | 809,201 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 12,892 | 18,808 | 22,069 | 24,667 | 27,050 | 29,023 | 31,184 | 34,124 | 36,838 | 40,300 |
| House Budget Resolution | -718 | -5 | 1,750 | 2,011 | 418 | -2,467 | -6,332 | -11,965 | -17,508 | -21,023 |

Table A-3. Federal Outlays for Human Resource Budget Functions: FY2012-FY2021 Under the CBO baseline, President Obama's FY2012 budget, and the House budget resolution (nominal dollars in millions)

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|---|---------|---------|----------|----------|---------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----------|
| Income Security (Function 600) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 529,437 | 522,322 | 486,303 | 486,504 | 497,139 | 492,819 | 492,052 | 512,130 | 523,731 | 536,24 |
| President's Budget | 532,169 | 523,134 | 521,431 | 517,774 | 528,613 | 524,402 | 523,673 | 543,386 | 554,836 | 567,21 |
| House Budget Resolution | 501,006 | 487,248 | 456,072 | 429,143 | 438,896 | 434,795 | 434,302 | 454,448 | 465,565 | 477,94 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 2,732 | 812 | 35,128 | 31,270 | 31,474 | 31,583 | 31,621 | 31,256 | 31,105 | 30,97 |
| House Budget Resolution | -28,431 | -35,074 | -30,23 I | -57,361 | -58,243 | -58,024 | -57,750 | -57,682 | -58,166 | -58,298 |
| Social Security (Function 650) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 766,442 | 804,802 | 847,699 | 894,237 | 945,083 | 1,002,066 | 1,064,515 | 1,130,825 | 1,201,170 | 1,273,21 |
| President's Budget | 767,275 | 804,948 | 847,748 | 893,806 | 944,233 | 1,000,844 | 1,063,037 | 1,129,142 | 1,199,287 | 1,271,14 |
| House Budget Resolution | 766,217 | 804,387 | 847,118 | 893,490 | 944,153 | 1,000,980 | 1,063,315 | 1,129,525 | 1,199,780 | 1,271,74 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 833 | 146 | 49 | -431 | -850 | -1,222 | -1,478 | -1,683 | -1,883 | -2,07 |
| House Budget Resolution | -225 | -415 | -581 | -747 | -930 | -1,086 | -1,200 | -1,300 | -1,390 | -1,47 |
| Veterans' Benefits and Services (Function 700) | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 126,850 | 128,704 | 132,442 | I 35,895 | 144,585 | 143,287 | 142,212 | 151,719 | 156,049 | 160,37 |
| President's Budget | 127,972 | 130,013 | 134,037 | 137,827 | 146,840 | 145,692 | 144,738 | 154,394 | 158,965 | 163,60 |
| House Budget Resolution | 127,140 | 130,025 | 134,055 | 37,85 | 146,868 | 145,704 | 144,751 | 154,407 | 158,979 | 163,62 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 1,122 | 1,309 | 1,595 | 1,932 | 2,255 | 2,405 | 2,526 | 2,675 | 2,916 | 3,23 |
| House Budget Resolution | 290 | 1,321 | 1,613 | 1,956 | 2,283 | 2,417 | 2,539 | 2,688 | 2,930 | 3,24 |

| | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Total Human Resources | | | | | | | | | | |
| CBO Baseline | 2,370,082 | 2,443,285 | 2,552,322 | 2,703,059 | 2,891,131 | 3,014,969 | 3,138,816 | 3,343,179 | 3,528,392 | 3,727,115 |
| President's Budget | 2,402,158 | 2,473,257 | 2,617,675 | 2,763,246 | 2,951,498 | 3,071,247 | 3,195,462 | 3,401,143 | 3,587,838 | 3,785,087 |
| House Budget Resolution | 2,322,827 | 2,355,745 | 2,375,981 | 2,419,384 | 2,547,812 | 2,637,906 | 2,723,795 | 2,897,220 | 3,044,562 | 3,204,237 |
| Change from CBO Baseline | | | | | | | | | | |
| President's Budget | 32,076 | 29,972 | 65,353 | 60,187 | 60,367 | 56,278 | 56,646 | 57,964 | 59,446 | 57,972 |
| House Budget Resolution | -47,255 | -87,540 | -176,341 | -283,675 | -343,319 | -377,063 | -415,021 | -445,959 | -483,830 | -522,878 |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS) based on data from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the House Budget Committee (HBC).

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Specialist in Domestic Social Policy and Division Research Coordinator /redacted/@crs.loc.gov, 7-.... (name redacted) Specialist in Social Policy /redacted/@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.